IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-1951

JAMES FRANK PIZZO,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On discretionary conflict review of a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

BRUCE ROGOW BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A. Broward Financial Centre 500 E. Broward Blvd., Suite 1930 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33394 (954) 767-8909 BEVERLY A. POHL BROAD AND CASSEL P.O. Box 14010 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33302 (954) 764-7060

Counsel for Petitioner James Frank Pizzo

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is here on express and direct conflict review of a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal. *See* **Appendix A** (*Pizzo v. State*, 916 So. 2d 828 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005). The Court has provisionally accepted jurisdiction and indicated that oral argument will be set by separate order. *See* March 8, 2006 Order.

Petitioner James Frank Pizzo ("Jimmy") was tried by jury and convicted in the Twelfth Judicial Circuit in and for Sarasota County. The trial was before the Honorable Peter A. Dubensky, upon an 18-count First Amended Information filed by the Office of the Statewide Prosecutor, alleging numerous fraudulent practices of Pizzo's family-owned home improvement business, East Coast Exteriors, Inc.. R3-358-377.

East Coast Exteriors sold windows, soffits, fascia, and siding, through telemarketing followed by direct sales to homeowners. The fraud charges were based on misrepresentations that the windows being sold were "Reynolds" windows (they were Caradon "Better Built" windows, distributed by Reynolds Building Products); misrepresentations made regarding the company's history and capacity to do the work; and misrepresentations made about, and failures to disclose, finance charges and UCC-1 forms and mortgages that were recorded against the homeowners' properties. *See* **Appendix A**, pp. 2-3.

The State also prosecuted and convicted Rozlyn Pizzo (Jimmy's wife), James Pizzo, Jr. (Jimmy's father), and Edwina Pizzo (Jimmy's mother), for their role in the operation of the family business.¹ Their cases are not part of this appeal.²

None of the defendants testified at trial. Jimmy Pizzo, "the owner of the company and the ultimate decision-maker" (*id.*), was found guilty of five counts of mortgage fraud in violation of § 817.54, Florida Statutes (Counts 1, 2, 3, 5, 6); six counts of grand theft in violation of § 812.014(2)(b) and(c) (Counts 8, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15); one count of organized fraud in violation of § 817.034(4)(a)(1) (Count 16); one count of conspiracy to commit racketeering in violation of § 895.03(4) (Count 17); and racketeering in

¹ Because of the similarity of names, throughout the trial James Frank Pizzo was referred to as "Jimmy" or "Jr.," while the elder Pizzo, who actually was a "Jr.," was referred to as "Sr." Where necessary for clarity, Senior and Junior will be used here to distinguish between father (Sr.) and son (Jr.).

² See Rozlyn Pizzo v. State, 910 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (affirming conviction for organized fraud, reversing convictions for mortgage fraud, racketeering, and conspiracy to commit racketeering); *James Pizzo, Jr. v.* State, 910 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (affirming conviction for organized fraud, reversing conviction for conspiracy to commit racketeering). Edwina Pizzo was found guilty of organized fraud, but her conviction was set aside by the trial court. R12-2182.

violation of § 895.03(3) (Count 18). *See* R1-101-102. He was sentenced under the pre-October 1998 sentencing guidelines to an upward departure sentence of fifteen years imprisonment (R1-103-107), and is incarcerated at Columbia Correctional Institution.

Pizzo appealed the jury verdict and Amended Judgment of Conviction and Sentence to the Second District Court of Appeal. That court reversed all of his convictions except the racketeering conviction. The mortgage fraud convictions were reversed and remanded for a new trial due to the erroneous oral delivery of the jury instructions. (**Appendix A**, pp. 7-10). The conspiracy to commit racketeering conviction was reversed because the jury instruction itself was flawed. *Id.* at 10-11. The convictions for organized fraud and grand theft were reversed on double jeopardy grounds (the State conceded error), leading to the primary issue in this case on which the Court has ordered merit briefing.

The Second District questioned whether the *number* of grand theft counts (six), when compared to the single organized fraud count, was relevant to which of the reversed convictions had to be vacated on double jeopardy grounds:

Ordinarily, we would reverse the lesser of the offenses and affirm the greater. *See Cherry*, 592 So. 2d at 295; *Donovan*, 572 So. 2d at 526. However, in this case there are six counts of grand

theft, a third-degree felony, and one count of organized fraud, a first-degree felony. Therefore, we are unable to determine which is actually the "lesser" of the offenses. Accordingly, we reverse Mr. Pizzo's grand theft and organized fraud convictions and remand for the trial court to grant a judgment of acquittal on the lesser of the offenses.

Appendix A, p. 12.

Pizzo sought rehearing in the District Court, which was denied, then sought discretionary review in this Court, arguing that precedent requires that each of the six grand theft convictions be vacated, and that the decision in this case conflicts with decisions from other districts. In addition, Pizzo also sought review of the affirmance of the racketeering conviction, contending that it must be set aside since all the predicate act convictions (for mortgage fraud and grand theft) have been reversed. This Court's March 8, 2006 Order permitted merits briefing on both issues.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 1997, in Vero Beach, James Frank Pizzo started a home improvement business, East Coast Exteriors, Inc. R4-600; R13-140. He had previous experience in the industry. R16-495-496, 567. The only officer and director of the new company was Jimmy's mother, Edwina Pizzo (R4-615-17, 619), but her role was strictly nominal. Jimmy was "owner of the company" (R20-1282), in charge of the business, and the ultimate decision maker: "Jimmy Pizzo was running the operations, making the decisions, final decisions, if you will." R17-847; *see also* R16-554, 578-79, 634; R17-755.

East Coast Exteriors later opened another office in Manatee County (R13-99), and customer complaints about the work and the attendant financing arrangements and liens on homeowners' property in the Sarasota area led to the charges in this case.

In January 1998, Jimmy Pizzo entered into an arrangement with Jerry Linkous, a West Palm Beach general contractor (R16-491), whereby Linkous would receive \$400 per month and East Coast Exteriors could use his license to obtain permits. R5-797-802; R16-499-501, 554, 558. As the "qualifier" for the company, Linkous was to review the construction work, which he understood to be exterior work, primarily screen enclosures, fascia,

5

aluminum siding, and general home improvement. R16-493-95. They did not discuss replacement windows, which Linkous was wary of from a liability standpoint, because it involved going inside customers' homes. Id. at 497 ("my understanding, was totally exterior"). Some months into their arrangement, Linkous learned that Florida law required a disclosure to customers regarding the right to make a claim through the Construction Industry Licensing Board Fund if the value of labor and materials exceeded \$2500 and they are unhappy with a contractor's work. R16-508-512; R5-846. He provided Jimmy with the statutory language, which was to be added to the sales contracts as an "Attachment A," although Linkous never saw any East Coast contracts containing the statutory language R16-510-12. Consistently, customers and salespeople testified that this disclosure was not made. See e.g., R16-612; R23-1838-39.

Although the written agreement with Linkous did not limit the geographic area in which East Coast Exteriors could utilize his State license to obtain permits, or the type of work that could be done, Linkous was "shocked" to learn that work was being done on the west coast. R16-507-08, 541-42. He had not checked any of that work, because he was unaware of those projects. *Id.* at 516-17.

Rozlyn did office work in the Vero Beach office (R21-1320, 1324), and was considered by office employees to be a supervisor, along with Jimmy. R19-1055. Jimmy's father, James "Sr.," was in charge of the work crews on both sides of the state. R21-1332, 1373-74. Mark Baugh, district manager and head salesman on the west coast, pled *nolo contendere* to reduced charges and testified for the State. R20-1277; R22-1557-1568.³

East Coast Exteriors generated business through telemarketing. The telemarketers used scripts dictated by Jimmy; no deviations were allowed. R19-1118, 1122-23; R7-1233 ("Hi m/m_____. This is ______ and I'm calling on behalf of Reynolds Products. The reason for my call is that Reynolds is introducing a new double-paned, thermo-insulated custom window. . . ."); R7-1235. Jimmy instructed the callers to say they represented Reynolds (R20-1157, 1165, 1174-75, 1184), which became a theme of the case, because the windows provided to East Coast Exteriors by Reynolds Building Products, and thus to East Coast's customers, were not Reynolds windows, but rather were Caradon Better Built Windows.⁴

³ Baugh cooperated in return for a recommendation from the State for a withhold of adjudication and sentence of probation. *Id.*, 1562-64.

⁴ "Better-Bilt Aluminum" manufactures aluminum windows for distribution by other distributors, such as Reynolds Building Products, Home Depot, and Lowes. R15-363-64. Although the correct spelling is "Better Bilt" (R4-656), the transcript contains the usual spelling of "built,"

Reynolds had never manufactured an aluminum window such as those sold by East Coast Exteriors. R15-362-363.

Telemarketing calls were placed to names listed in a Hill and Donnelly directory for the Sarasota area, which is a resource routinely used in the telemarketing industry. The directory lists names by street, and indicates the degree of financial affluence by location. R19-1129. In addition, East Coast Exteriors' former telemarketing manager, Carolyn Stalvey, said that Jimmy provided "White Sheets," lists of names of elderly and widowed women, for the telemarketers to contact. *Id.* at 1124-1128; R7-1237-39.⁵ Once "leads" were generated, *i.e.*, people who indicated an interest in the products, those names were forwarded to the salespeople.

not the trade spelling. We use the usual spelling except where quoting from trade materials. The "Reynolds" company evolved as follows. First there was Reynolds Metals Company, with a construction products division that was sold to Amerimark, and which became Reynolds Building Products, a distributor of various manufacturers' products (R15-339-41) in late 1996 or early 1997. That company was later acquired by Owens Corning and merged with Mirandex, but retained the name Reynolds Building Products. By March 1997, a directive was issued to Reynolds Building Products to discontinue use of the Reynolds "St. George slaying the dragon" logo. R17-702-03. In July, a new Reynolds Building Products logo was required for all marketing. R5-841-44; R15-342. Those efforts were not 100% successful, and some Reynolds Building Products trucks continued to display the Reynolds logo during the time they were delivering product to East Coast Exteriors. R17-707, 736.

⁵ There was no evidence presented that any of the named victims in this case were contacted *via* the White Sheets. One salesperson testified

Several salespeople assisted Mark Baugh on the west coast of Florida. Their sales techniques were similar, because they were all trained by Jimmy Pizzo. R17-755-56 (Blakney); R20-1294 (Baugh); R18-912 (Chagaruly); R20-1195 (Lewandoski); R16-578, 584, 634 (Miller). The salespeople were trained to present themselves as "managers." R20-1296; R17-761; R18-914. They advised customers that East Coast Exteriors was a "very large company," in business "from 12 to over 20 years," having done "thousands" of projects" without complaints. R16-577, 581-82. Salesman William Miller (who did not sell to any of the customers named as victims in the Information), misrepresented to customers that he was "the nephew of the owner and that I was in the area because the salesman's vehicle had broken down and he was unable to make it. . . ." R16-583. Salespeople told customers they did not work on commission, though they did. R16-586, R17-761; R18-947; R20-1283-84, 1294. They represented that the crew workers were salaried employees of East Coast Exteriors, trained by Reynolds, when in fact that was not true. R18-916-917; R20-1283, 1287.

9

that "deep in my heart" she believed that all her customers needed the products they purchased (R20-1263), and that her customers were significantly younger, and were "sharp," "coherent," and had "no mental deficiencies." *Id.* at 1259, 1264, 1266.

The sales staff's primary tool was known colloquially as the "pitch book." R4-630-687 (State's Exhibit 8); R16-573-78 (it was used "on literally every sales call;" they received "daily classes" in using the pitch book). "[T]he book was basically a sales tool to - that was to allow the people in the home to become at ease with the product and the company and certainly the name recognition of Reynolds Aluminum Corporation." R16-574-75. The book was replete with pictures of Reynolds products, with the familiar Reynolds Aluminum logo, contained pictures of windows and exterior work, and contained an October 4, 1997 letter from Chris Fuertsch, of the Reynolds Metal Company Orlando Service Center, stating that East Coast Exteriors, Inc. was the "exclusive authorized dealer for Reynolds Aluminum" Vinyl Tuf building products, as well as a Reynolds Better-Bilt window distributor for Southeast Florida." R4-634; R5-876.⁶

Fuertsch testified that the letter in the pitch book was a "doctored letter from one that I wrote to a company called Better Homes Exteriors back in the mid '80s," that he did not create, and it was "not my signature." R17-654-656. In fact, Reynolds never made Better Built windows – they were made by Caradon and distributed by Reynolds Building Products (R15-

⁶ The document at R4-634 is dated "October 4, 1997," while the document at R5-876 is dated "October 4, 1987." They are otherwise identical.

343-44) – and East Coast was not an "exclusive" agent for Reynolds products. *Id.* at 652-55, 658.

Fuertsch concluded that Jimmy Pizzo knew what he was buying from Reynolds Building Products (R17-687-695) and that the entire pitch book "appeared to be a presentation book that was used by a company that Mr. Pizzo had worked for prior to East Coast Exteriors. Better Homes Exteriors was that company. The information in that book goes back to that era, which was early to mid '80s." R17-657.

Fuertsch concluded that other documents in the pitch book were doctored as well. An "April 5 1997" Vinyl Siding Institute press release announcing that East Coast Exteriors, Inc. had been "named a winner in the 1997 Awards of Distinction competition," for "outstanding workmanship in the application of vinyl siding products" (R4-637; R5-894), was dated prior to the April 24, 1997 incorporation of East Coast Exteriors, Inc. R4-600; R17-681. Fuertsch did not know if an October 12, 1997 Vinyl Siding Institute letter to James Pizzo (R4-635; R5-896) was authentic, but inferred it was not, stating that "[we] had a customer in south Florida, Better Homes Exteriors, who won a VSI award a couple years prior to this." R17-683.

The pitch book also contained a purported warranty for Better-Bilt windows, containing the Reynolds logo. R4-572, 672; R13-108. However,

11

an original warranty, obtained from the distributor, did not contain that logo, but instead bore the official logo for Caradon Better Bilt Windows. R4-574; R13-109. FDLE Special Agent Charles Leonard testified that the warranty in the pitch book was a "forgery." R13-109.

A Reynolds Building Products branch manager, Jack Grissom, once overheard an East Coast Exteriors telemarketer say he was with "Reynolds Metal Company." R15-347-48. Grissom asked Jimmy Pizzo to have his staff refrain from using the name "Reynolds" in any capacity in their telemarketing, and followed up with a "cease and desist" letter on April 14, 1999:

> During my visit with your company on March 10th, I observed your telephone sales personnel representing themselves as being "with Reynolds Building Products". It has been brought to my attention that your field sales personnel are in possession of business cards implying they are employees of Reynolds Building Products. I have also been advised that the BetterBuilt aluminum windows we supply you are being portrayed as a "Reynolds manufactured window."

> While we recognize the value of associating the "Reynolds" brand name as part of your sales efforts, there is a limit as to how far you can go.

All personnel of your company must be made aware that they cannot represent themselves as employees of Reynolds Building Products, either verbally or in writing. They should also be made aware that they cannot represent any product not

produced by the Norandex/ Reynolds Distribution Co. as a "Reynolds manufactured" product.

* * *

R5-814; R15-349-50 (emphasis in original). Grissom, like Fuertsch, reviewed the various documents in the pitch book, and concluded it contained "old, out-of-date" Reynolds Metal Company literature (R15-353) and that the improper use of the Reynolds logo and the depiction of obsolete products, was not "an appropriate sales tool for Reynolds Building Products supplies." *Id.*, 355-362. "No way, shape, or form was any customer allowed to represent themselves as being a part of Reynolds whatever." *Id.* 386.

The East Coast Exteriors salespeople also offered various financing options to their customers who could not pay cash. In-house financing was available, a retail mortgage, often through American General Finance (R17-838-39), or a larger consolidation loan, offered through Peter Green, a mortgage broker. R22-1541-43. The latter two methods gave the lender the right to record "UCC-1's," which imposed a lien against the property until the loans were satisfied. American General required a copy of the sales contract, a loan application, a Certificate of Completion signed by the customer, and then the loan would be processed and the UCC-1 would be filed. R17-839-40.

The salesmen took various financing forms, including the UCC-1's and Certificate of Completion to the customers' homes, and obtained signatures at the time the contracts were signed. R21-1321. Jimmy Pizzo trained the salespeople in how to fill out the financing paperwork (R21-1324), instructed the salespeople not to discuss the UCC-1's, and customers were not told that they would be used to impose a lien on their homes. R21-1358-59.⁷ Some were told that the UCC-1 was for "state taxes." *Id.* at 1360, 1386.

Neither Rozlyn Pizzo nor James Pizzo "Sr." sold product to East Coast Exteriors customers named in the First Amended Information. Appellant James Frank Pizzo routinely participated in the sales process by telephone, when the salespeople would call him for the "phone close" of the transaction. R16-584-85. There was no evidence, however, that he did so for any of the customers involved the mortgage fraud convictions, Counts 1, 2, 3, 5, and 6.

⁷ The financing contract, however, advised the customers in several places that a security interest would be placed on the home. R14-286-289

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As the State conceded and the District Court properly found, 1. the Double Jeopardy Clause forbids convictions for both grand theft and organized scheme to defraud where the underlying conduct is the same, because all the elements of grand theft are found in the elements of organized scheme to defraud. See § 775.021(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (codifying the Blockburger "same elements" test). The District Court's unwillingness to then vacate the grand theft convictions, because there were multiple counts of grand theft, was a misapplication of double jeopardy principles, and conflicts with clear precedent from other districts and from the Second District itself. See Stav v. State, 860 So. 2d 478 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003); Donovan v. State, 572 So. 2d 522 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); Cherry v. State, 592 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). The decision below lacks analysis and legal support and should be disapproved.

Every court that has considered the question, including this Court, has concluded that where double jeopardy precludes dual convictions, the proper remedy is to vacate the convictions for the lesser offense. *See generally State v. Barton*, 523 So. 2d 152, 153 n. 3 (Fla. 1988) ("In cases involving convictions of both the greater and lesser included offenses, it is the lesser rather than the greater sentence which is vacated"). Thus, the lesser grand

theft convictions (second and third-degree felonies) must be vacated on remand without regard to how many counts of grand theft exist, and only the organized scheme to defraud conviction (a first-degree felony) should remain. *See Williamson v. State*, 852 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) (vacating 57 counts of grand theft, which formed the basis of the charges for organized scheme to defraud, while upholding the scheme to defraud conviction).

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