IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES FRANK PIZZO,
A/K/A JAMES PIZZO, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC05-1951
Lower Tribunal No. 2D03-4913

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

_____ /

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
SECOND DISTRICT
STATE OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.
ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
BUREAU CHIEF-
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
TAMPA CRIMINAL APPEALS
Florida Bar No. 0238538

ANNE SHEER WEINER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0015199
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7900
Facsimile: (813) 281-5500

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

The State conceded the double jeopardy violation upon direct appeal, as the Information (Count 16) charged the Petitioner with Organized Fraud alleging the Petitioner "engaged in a systematic, on-going course of conduct with the intent to defraud" between August 1, 1998 and April 13, 2001. (R364-69).

The Information alleged each of the predicate acts and victims by date and name. (R364-69). The predicate acts and victims were the same as listed in the individual counts charging Mortgage Fraud and Grand Theft and all the acts fell within the time frame alleged for the Organized Fraud. The evidence presented at the Petitioner's trial supported the allegations contained in the Information and the jury found the Petitioner guilty on each of the six counts of Grand Theft and the on count of Organized Fraud. The acknowledgement of double jeopardy under these facts was proper.

Clearly, based on the fact the six counts of Grand Theft were lower degree offenses¹ than the one count of Organized Fraud, upon the finding of double jeopardy it might be assumed by a defendant that the lower degree offenses would be vacated upon remand and, therefore, expect the appellate court to direct the lower degree or "lesser" offenses vacated. However, the Petitioner's argument before this Court asserts this is mandated and simply relies on prior appellate decisions in which the appellate courts have designated the lower degree offense as authority for this proposition without any citation to statute or rule.

¹ The Respondent would also point out that five of the Grand Theft counts are third degree felonies, but one count (Count 10) is a second degree felony. (R101).

The standard of review for a pure question of law is de novo. State v. Florida, 894 So. 2d 941, 945 (Fla. 2005). The issue before this Court is whether, in the context of a double jeopardy violation, an appellate court is required to designate which offense should to be vacated upon remand.

In the instant case, the appellate court found the Petitioner's convictions and sentences for both Organized Fraud and Grand Theft violated double jeopardy principles where the Petitioner was being punished twice for the same criminal conduct. The appellate court ordered the case remanded to the trial court and the "lesser offense" be vacated. Upon remand to the trial court, the state attorney should have opportunity to present argument as to which should be vacated or given the opportunity to exercise its discretion to file a nolle prosequi on either offense pursuant to Article V, section 17, of the Florida Constitution. An appellate court should not interfere with the state attorney's decision whether and how to prosecute a case upon remand. Although there may be an assumption that the state attorney would seek the greater offense based on the original charging document, this should not preclude the state attorney from being given the opportunity to argue which of the offenses should be vacated or to file a nolle prosequi as to the either offense to cure the double jeopardy violation.

Article V, section 17, of the Florida Constitution specifically provides that state attorneys are the prosecuting officers of all trials in each circuit. This Court has long held that as the prosecuting officer, the state attorney has "complete discretion" in the decision to charge and prosecute a crime. See Cleveland v. State, 417 So. 2d 653, 654 (Fla. 1982). The judiciary cannot interfere with this "discretionary executive function." State v. Bloom, 497 So. 2d 2, 3 (Fla. 1986). The state attorneys also possess complete discretion with regard to decisions on whether to seek enhanced punishments after conviction. See Young v. State, 699 So. 2d 624, 627 (Fla. 1997). A judicial limit to this discretion arises where constitutional constraints are implicated. Wayte v. United States, 470 U.S. 598, 608, 84 L. Ed. 2d 547, 105 S. Ct. 1524 (1985).

In the instant case, the Petitioner was sentenced to five years prison on each of the counts of Grand Theft and sentenced to five years prison for the one count of Organized Fraud. These sentences all run concurrently. The Second District Court of Appeal had good reason for stating it was "unable to determine which is actually the "lesser" of the offenses. Where there was no difference in the punishments for the five third degree felonies, the one second degree felony, and the one

first degree felony, there really wasn't a "lesser" offense. Under these facts, the decision not to designate the "lesser offense" was not error.

The Petitioner's argument that each count of Grand Theft must be regarded as a separate indictment to be compared individually with the elements of the Organized Fraud and each count must be vacated individually if the elements are contained within the offense of Organized Fraud is without merit. The offense of Organized Fraud is an 'umbrella' offense which can not exist without proof of a "scheme to defraud" based on the conduct alleged in the multiple counts of Grand Theft. The State's evidence necessary to prove each count of Grand Theft was also evidence necessary to prove "a systematic, ongoing course of conduct with intent to defraud one or more persons, or with intent to obtain property from one or more persons by false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises or willful misrepresentations of a future act."

The double jeopardy implications in the instant case derive from the fact that each of the individual acts done by the Petitioner to warrant prosecution for each six Grand Theft offenses were subsumed by the offense of Organized Fraud. Much like a snowball can not exist without individual snowflakes, Organized Fraud can not be established without evidence of

individual criminal offenses illustrating an ongoing course of conduct. This demonstrates why the Petitioner's idea of looking at each Grand Theft as a separate indictment would not result in reversal on double jeopardy grounds. If the State only presented evidence the Petitioner committed one Grand Theft then there was no Organized Fraud because one act is not an ongoing course of conduct. Under the Petitioner's theory, each conviction standing separately would remain separate convictions for Grand Theft and the Organized Fraud conviction would be vacated for insufficient evidence.

The Petitioner in the instant case was convicted of all the offenses charged after the State presented the multiple victims who were convinced to purchase home improvements based on false representations. The State's evidence showed the products installed on their homes were not the products promised and the Petitioner was able to obtain some customers' signatures on the UCC-1s without their knowledge resulting in liens against the victims' homes. The State sought restitution in the underlying case for both the victims of the Mortgage Fraud and the Grand Theft convictions. The restitution order was a nullity as it was entered after the Petitioner filed his notice of appeal. The Mortgage Fraud convictions were reversed on appeal based on jury instruction errors. If this Court were to find the Grand

Theft charges were the "lesser offenses" to be vacated upon remand, the State could not seek restitution for the victims of the Organized Fraud or the Mortgage Fraud. The Petitioner could use the "greater offense" of Organized Fraud as a shield against a more severe penalty the State could have sought after proving the Petitioner was guilty of the six counts of Grand Theft.

In light of the facts presented, the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeals is not in conflict with prior decisions of this Court or other district courts. There is no requirement that an appellate court designate the "lesser offense" to be vacated upon remand on a violation of double jeopardy.

ISSUE II(A)

PETITIONER'S CONVICTION FOR RACKETEERING WAS PROPERLY UPHELD WHERE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE THE PREDICATE ACTS. (as restated by Respondent).

As an initial note, this issue was never raised by the Petitioner in the direct appeal and should be deemed procedurally barred. Additionally, this Court should not consider this issue where this Court did not accept jurisdiction on this issue and it is not dispositive of the case. This Court's authority to consider issues other than those upon which jurisdiction is based is discretionary and is exercised only when these other issues have been properly briefed and argued and are dispositive of the case. See Savona v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, 648 So. 2d 705, 707 (Fla. 1995).

As an initial premise to this argument, the Petitioner would ask this Court to find that the Petitioner was acquitted of all of the offenses charged by the State and convictions for the predicate acts were necessary to sustain the Racketeering conviction. This premise is clearly false in light of the Petitioner's first issue. Additionally, even if the six convictions for Grand Theft were vacated upon remand, this does not nullify the evidence presented at trial. The Petitioner was found guilty of each charged Grand Theft and, even if the offenses are subsumed into the offense of Organized Fraud, the

evidence was sufficient to find the Petitioner guilty of Racketeering. The Petitioner was found guilty of six counts of Grand Theft. Additionally, the Petitioner's convictions for Mortgage Fraud were reversed for a procedural error, not on a challenge based on the sufficiency of the evidence. As there is no need for the State to obtain convictions to prove the alleged predicate acts, the jury's verdict of guilt inherently found the State presented sufficient evidence to prove Racketeering. See Harvey v. State, 617 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

The State produced sufficient evidence to show the Petitioner and his family operated their home improvement business as a continuous unit with the purpose of selling replacement windows and home improvements that were not of the quality purported and obtain documents which allowed the Petitioner to file UCC liens against the victims' homes without their knowledge or consent.

"Reversal for trial error, as distinguished from evidentiary insufficiency, does not constitute a decision to the effect that the government has failed to prove its case. . . . Rather, it is a determination that a defendant has been convicted through a judicial process which is defective in some fundamental respect." Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1, 18, 98 S.Ct. 2141, 2150, 57 L.Ed.2d 1 (1978); See also, Morris v.

Mathews, 475 U.S. 237, 245, 106 S.Ct. 1032, 1037, 89 L.Ed.2d 187 (1986) (jury which found defendant guilty of greater offense of aggravated murder did not acquit of lesser charge but, a fortiori, found defendant guilty of the lesser offense of murder as well). The conviction for Organized Fraud presumes the sufficiency of the evidence to prove the commission of the requisite number of lesser offenses of Grand Theft or Mortgage Fraud to sustain the greater offense.

ISSUE II(B)

THE JURY INSTRUCTION FOR RACKETEERING WAS PROPER AND COMPLETE. (As restated by Respondent).

As an initial note, this issue was never raised by the Petitioner in the direct appeal and should be deemed procedurally barred. Additionally, this Court should not consider this issue where this Court did not accept jurisdiction on this issue and it is not dispositive of the case. This Court's authority to consider issues other than those upon which jurisdiction is based is discretionary and is exercised only when these other issues have been properly briefed and argued and are dispositive of the case. See Savona v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, 648 So. 2d 705, 707 (Fla. 1995).

This Court has consistently held that jury instructions are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule. See Archer v. State, 673 So. 2d 17 (Fla.), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 876, 136 L. Ed. 2d 134 (1996); Armstrong v. State, 642 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1085, 131 L. Ed. 2d 726 (1995). Absent an objection at trial, the complained-of instruction may be raised on appeal only if fundamental error has occurred. See Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285 (Fla.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1025, 126 L. Ed. 2d 596 (1993). It is undisputed that the Petitioner did not make a contemporaneous objection to the jury

instruction for the offense of Racketeering. Although the Petitioner concedes this error is unpreserved, the Petitioner would ask this Court to find fundamental error based on the use of term "and/or" between the Petitioner's name and his wife's name in the introduction to the instruction. The instruction did not use the term "and/or" in the body of the instruction which outlined the predicate offenses the State had to prove. The jury instruction can not be read in a manner suggesting the jury could find the Petitioner guilty solely on the determination that the Petitioner's wife's conduct met an element of the offense. This issue has not been properly preserved for appellate review.

Fundamental error is error which "reach[es] down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991)(quoting Brown v. State, 124 So. 2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1960)). "Thus, for error to meet this standard, it must follow that the error prejudiced the defendant. Therefore, all fundamental error is harmful error." Reed v. State, 837 So. 2d 366, 370 (Fla. 2002). Fundamental error occurs when "the omission is pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict." Id. at 370. (internal citations omitted). The jury instruction

given was not fundamental error and not properly preserved for review.

The jury instructions given for the offense of Racketeering was proper and complete. The use of the term "and/or" in the first paragraph was an introduction to the instruction. This portion of the jury instruction was setting forth the elements of the offense of Racketeering, not the predicate acts the State needed to prove. Under the jury instructions as read, neither the Petitioner nor his wife could have been convicted solely on the actions of the other. In fact, the use of the plural "defendants" in the predicate offenses of Mortgage Fraud increased the State's burden of proof.

The Petitioner did not contest the fact he ran a home improvement business with his family. The evidence that he was the manager of the business, put together the pitch book, trained the telemarketers, and trained the sales people. The Petitioner spoke with the salespeople in helping them close the deals with the victims. The undisputed evidence showed that his wife, Rozlyn Pizzo, also worked at the business in the office, she took care of the financing paperwork, and mailed out the warranties after the replacement windows were installed.

The instructions presented as error were sufficient for the jury to find the Petitioner guilty of Racketeering as the use of

the plural "defendants" only served to increase the State's burden of proof for the predicate acts of Mortgage Fraud. The jury had to find both the Petitioner and his wife acted with the intent to defraud each of the victims. As to the predicate acts of Grand Theft, the instructions do not have any plurals and the Petitioner was the only defendant charged with Grand Theft. However, the Petitioner fails to consider that the jury which found him guilty also found him guilty of the same six counts of Grand Theft separately. As the Petitioner, is not challenging the jury instructions as given for the separate offenses of Grand Theft as improper and the evidence showed the jury found him guilty of all counts under those jury instructions, the Petitioner's conviction should be affirmed.

"Where individual claims of error alleged are either procedurally barred or without merit, the claim of cumulative error must fail." Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 14 (Fla. 2003), cert. denied 543 U.S. 962, 160 L. Ed. 2d 328, 125 S. Ct. 413 (2004).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, argument, and citations of authority, Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal.